#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00087

ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD COMPANY

**APPELLANT** 

V.

RICHARD ALDRIDGE, ET AL

**APPELLEES** 

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY

# **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

GLENN F. BECKHAM, MBN:
HARRIS F. POWERS, III, MBN:
UPSHAW, WILLIAMS, BIGGERS,
BECKHAM & RIDDICK
POST OFFICE DRAWER 8230
GREENWOOD, MS 38935-8230
(662) 455-1613

THOMAS R. PETERS GUNDLACH, LEE, EGGMANN, BOYLE & ROESSLER 5000 WEST MAIN STREET POST OFFICE BOX 23560 BELLEVILLE, ILLINOIS 62226-0560

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

# SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF THE CLERK

ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD COMPANY

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL BY ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD COMPANY

COMES NOW the Defendant, Illinois Central Railroad Company and submits the following issues for purposes of appeal:

- A. Whether the trial court erred when it granted Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement Agreement.
- B. Whether the trial court erred in making findings of disputed fact in connection with
   Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement Agreement.
- C. Whether the trial court erred in its Finding of Fact and Conclusions of Law filed in support of its Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement Agreement.
- D. Whether the trial court erred when it denied Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the
   Claims of the Remaining Plaintiffs.
- E. Whether the trial court erred in making findings of disputed fact when denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the Claims of the Remaining Plaintiffs.
- F. Whether the trial court erred in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law filed in support of its Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the Claims of the Remaining Plaintiffs.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

Α.

# **NATURE OF CASE**

The Amended Complaint filed in this cause in 1999 asserted claims for 99 plaintiffs who were former employees of Defendant Illinois Central Railroad Company. This Amended Complaint sought recovery from Illinois Central under the Federal Employers' Liability Act ("FELA"), 45 U.S.C. §51, et. seq. The Amended Complaint alleged that these plaintiffs were required to work "around asbestos, asbestos-containing products, and other fibrogenic, carcinogenic, noxious and deleterious dusts, fumes, and mists" and "had developed occupational lung disease, loss of lung function, asbestosis, mesothelioma, lung cancer, and asbestos-related pleural disease and death." (R.79-109; R.E. 5).

After settling many of these claims, counsel for the parties exchanged written correspondence in June of 2001 and in February of 2002 which plaintiffs contend (and the trial court ultimately found) constituted an agreement to settle all of the claims remaining in this case. The Record establishes, however, that the correspondence merely put in place a procedure whereby plaintiffs could submit information to Illinois Central, and Illinois Central could then elect to pay and settle the claims of certain plaintiffs on a case-by-case basis. Utilizing this process, all but 18 claims in this case have been settled. However, there has been no "meeting of the minds" or settlement agreement applicable to the remaining claims in this case. The correspondence in the Record, as well as the conduct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>References in this brief should be construed as follows: R.=Circuit Clerk's Record; T.=Court Reporter's transcript; R.E.=Appellant's Record Excerpts; Ex.=Citations to Hearing Exhibits.

of the parties since June 2001, confirm that the remaining claims have not been settled.

Throughout the litigation, Illinois Central has filed motions, amended motions and supplementations seeking severance and dismissal of the claims of these plaintiffs based on their improper joinder, improper venue, and *forum non-conveniens*. Illinois Central contends that the complaints, discovery responses, and pulmonary questionnaires provided by these plaintiffs establish that their claims have been improperly joined and have been filed in an improper venue and in an inconvenient forum.

Ultimately, the trial court granted the Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce the alleged settlement agreement and denied Illinois Central's Motion to Dismiss the claims of the remaining plaintiffs based upon improper joinder, improper venue, and *forum non-conveniens*.

Therefore, while this case originally asserted injury and death claims under the FELA on behalf of multiple plaintiffs, it now presents to this Court issues involving whether a contract for settlement exists with respect to each of the claims of the 18 remaining plaintiffs, and whether or not the claims of the remaining plaintiffs have been improperly joined and/or filed in an improper venue, and should therefore be severed and dismissed.

# COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE TRIAL COURT<sup>2</sup>

In order for the court to reach a fair decision, a detailed chronology of the relevant events is necessary:

# 1998

On October 9, 1998, Plaintiffs Richard Aldridge and 71 other plaintiffs filed their multi-plaintiff Complaint in the Circuit Court of Marshall County (R. 1-20).

# 1999

Illinois Central subsequently filed a motion to dismiss these 72 claims due to improper venue, improper joinder, and *forum non-conveniens* in February of 1999. (R. 38-39).

Several months later in April, plaintiffs amended the Complaint for the purpose of adding additional plaintiffs. (R. 79-102; R.E. 5).

On June 22, 1999, plaintiffs filed a Motion for Case Management Order pertaining only to a particular trial group that had been arbitrarily selected from the 99 plaintiffs by plaintiffs' counsel. (R. 104-105).

# 2000

Discovery ensued over the next several months in advance of a July 24, 2000 trial date which had been scheduled for the first group of plaintiffs. In February of 2000, Illinois Central moved for a continuance of the July, 2000 trial setting based on plaintiffs' failure

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This Court may find the description of proceedings in the trial court to be more extensive than usual. However, the length of this section is due to the volume of the Record, the number of the years this multi-plaintiff case has been pending in the trial court, and most importantly, due to the crucial role these events play in demonstrating the absence of any settlement agreement applicable to the claims of the plaintiffs remaining in this case.

to cooperate in discovery and other issues. (R. 357-63). The parties continued to engage in written discovery, primarily concerning the opinions of expert witnesses.

After Illinois Central received discovery responses from some of those persons designated for trial as part of the multi-plaintiff initial trial, Illinois Central filed a Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs Travis and Dean only, since interrogatory responses revealed that they had not worked in Mississippi and did not live in Mississippi. (R. 292-300; R.E. 6). On May 12, 2000, the trial court entered an order denying Illinois Central's Motion to Dismiss the claims of Travis and Dean based on improper venue, improper joinder, and *forum non-conveniens*. (R. 750). Two weeks later, the trial court entered an order denying Illinois Central's Motion for Continuance. (R. 751).

On May 26, 2000, Illinois Central filed a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal and Stay based on the denial of its motion to dismiss regarding only Plaintiff Travis. (R. 757-58). Travis was a member of the 10-person trial group arbitrarily designated by plaintiffs' counsel for trial as part of Trial Group I.<sup>3</sup> (R. 789).

On June 23, 2000, the trial court entered an order confirming July 24, 2000 as the trial date for the Trial Group I Plaintiffs. (R. 771). On July 10, 2000, the plaintiffs moved to withdraw Plaintiff Travis from Trial Group I based on the allegation that Mrs. Mary Travis was ill. (Plaintiff Clifton Travis was deceased). (R. 787). In preparation for the July 24, 2000 trial date, the parties filed various pre-trial motions, motions *in limine*, and motions to bar various expert testimony.

This Court entered an order on July 19, 2000, granting Illinois Central's interlocutory

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Other members of Trial Group I preferentially selected by plaintiffs' counsel were: Brown, Dean, Edwards, Gurner, House, Marshall, Mitchell, Pounders, and Robertson. None of the plaintiffs remaining in this action were accorded the privilege of having their claims adjudicated in the first trial group.

appeal with regard to the trial court's denial of Illinois Central's Motion to Dismiss the claim of Plaintiff Travis and stayed the action in the trial court as to Plaintiff Travis only, pending a resolution of the merits of the Petition for Interlocutory Appeal. (R. 1433; R.E. 7).

Prior to or on the July 24 trial date, the parties settled the claims of those plaintiffs remaining in Trial Group I.

On August 10, the trial court signed an order setting March 26, 2001, September 10, 2001, and March 25, 2002 as future trial dates for multiple groups of plaintiffs that would be <u>arbitrarily selected by plaintiffs' counsel</u>. (R. 1435; R.E. 8). Plaintiffs' counsel arbitrarily designated 30 plaintiffs for the trial of Trial Group II scheduled for March 26, 2001.<sup>4</sup> (R. 1484-85).

This Court granted Illinois Central's Petition for Interlocutory Appeal on October 10, regarding the claim of Plaintiff Travis and directed that its previously-ordered stay of trial court action with regard to <u>Travis' claim only</u> would remain in effect. (R. 1487).

#### <u> 2001</u>

During the following months the parties engaged in written discovery and filed voluminous motions in limine and pre-trial motions in advance of the scheduled March 26, 2001 trial date for Trial Group II. Subsequently, the claims of 18 of the 30 plaintiffs in Trial Group II were settled and the claims of the other Plaintiffs in Trial Group II were continued. (See letter confirming settlement at R. 3671).

Prior to May, 2001, plaintiffs' counsel arbitrarily designated 8 plaintiffs to comprise Trial Group III with their trial scheduled for September 10, 2001. Those plaintiffs were:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Of the plaintiffs remaining in this cause, only the claims of Plaintiffs Bruch, Farris, Harper, Robinson, and Travis were preferentially selected by plaintiffs' counsel to be a part of Trial Group II.

Greer, Harper, Parton, Robinson, Myrick, Cox, Bruch, and Travis.<sup>5</sup> (R. 2491-2498; R.E. 9). On May 14, Illinois Central's counsel wrote plaintiffs' counsel requesting discovery and deposition dates for the plaintiffs, particularly including Plaintiffs Parton, Robinson, Harper and Greer.<sup>6</sup> (R. 2495; R.E. 10).

Illinois Central's counsel Peters wrote a letter to plaintiffs' counsel Farese on May 29, 2001, indicating that "he had not heard from the client" concerning settlement discussions. This letter also concerned the next trial date for Trial Group III which was scheduled on September 10, 2001. Peters indicated that depositions and discovery responses were needed from several plaintiffs and updated discovery responses and medical reports were needed from other plaintiffs. (R. 3673-74; R.E. 11). This letter also reiterated the need to take depositions and receive discovery from Harper, Robinson, Parton, Greer, and Bruch (whose claims remain pending in this cause) in advance of the Trial Group III September 10, 2001 trial date.

On May 30, 2001, Farese faxed a letter to Peters discussing the need for discovery with regard to several claims and further indicated that Farese would discuss with other plaintiffs' counsel whether they could submit 30 additional cases for settlement consideration with a \$2,500.00 reduction if those claims were settled prior to September 10, 2001. (R. 3675-76).

On June 5, 2001, Peters wrote Farese discussing discovery issues and advising that: "I have forwarded the information with respect to review of 30 additional cases to my

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Of the plaintiffs remaining in this cause, only the claims of Plaintiffs Bruch, Greer, Harper, Parton, Robinson, and Travis were preferentially selected by plaintiffs' counsel to comprise part of Trial Group III.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The claims of all four of these plaintiffs presently remain pending.

client for review. I expect to hear from them shortly and will advise you upon same." (R. 3678).

On June 19, 2001, Attorney Andrekanic, counsel for Illinois Central, wrote a letter to plaintiffs' counsel to confirm the parties' agreement to settle the claims of the plaintiffs in a pending trial group in an unrelated case<sup>7</sup> and to confirm a procedure for submission of information on the remaining <u>Aldridge</u> plaintiffs (excluding those in Trial Group III) to Illinois Central for settlement consideration. The letter provided, in pertinent part:

Following our discussions of the last several days, I agreed to memorialize the agreements that have been reached regarding the settlement of Trial Group I of Allen v. Illinois Central Railroad Company (another case) ... and for the procedure that we have agreed upon whereby the remaining Plaintiffs in Allen (another case) and the remaining Plaintiffs in Aldridge v. Illinois Central Railroad Company (excluding Trial Group III currently set for September 10, 20018) can submit information to Illinois Central for purposes of processing a settlement.

As part of the negotiating process to arrive at the settlement amounts in <u>Allen</u> Trial Group I (another case), both of you ... and the Illinois Central have agreed to establish <u>a procedure</u> whereby you will submit information to the Illinois Central regarding the remaining Plaintiffs in <u>Allen v. Illinois Central</u> and in <u>Aldridge v. Illinois Central</u> ... the Illinois Central will process and pay the properly submitted claims of those remaining Plaintiffs.

As was agreed during negotiations, should the parties agree to settle the claims of those individuals identified in <u>Aldridge</u> Trial Group III ... any amounts paid by the Illinois Central in settlement of those claims will not be considered part of the limit established for claim processing in any given physical quarter.

I understand that there needs to be some finalization as to the settlement amounts agreed to in <u>Aldridge v. Illinois Central</u> as to those remaining

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Robert Allen, et al v. Illinois Central Railroad Company, Jefferson County Circuit Court No. 2000-100.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Therefore, this letter in its discussion did not apply to those plaintiffs who were part of Trial Group III at that time, including: Greer, Harper, Parton, Robinson, Bruch and Travis, whose claims remain pending at this time.

Plaintiffs ... as soon as that remaining issue is resolved<sup>9</sup>, the law offices of William S. Guy can choose to submit any combination of Plaintiffs from either <u>Allen</u> or <u>Aldridge</u> for claim processing.

The parties have agreed that a particular Plaintiff's claim is not "settled" until such time as the information and documentation required by the Illinois Central for processing a claim ... has been presented for processing and the Illinois Central has confirmed with your office that a particular Plaintiff's claim has been settled and the claim has been paid.

If the Illinois Central fails to complete a settlement as to any properly submitted claim, that claim shall proceed to trial as scheduled, upon application to the Court.

Each Plaintiff will complete the Illinois Central pulmonary questionnaire ...

The parties have also discussed that the Illinois Central will have the right to reject any claim ... that does not meet the documentation requirements ... and defer processing a claim, pending further negotiations with you, of a Plaintiff's claim where a question as to the claim being barred by reason of a statute of limitations issue, being barred by reason of a prior release, failure to establish a claimant as an employee of Illinois Central ... the Illinois Central will identify those claims where a question has arisen regarding compliance with the statute of limitations, the existence of a previous release which has been executed by the Plaintiff, or the failure to establish a claimant as an employee of the Illinois Central or a legal predecessor. The parties will engage in further negotiations concerning dispositions of any such claim in an attempt to resolve the claim, failing which the claim will be set for trial upon application to the Court. Should an unforseen circumstance arise that neither party currently anticipates, the parties will engage in further negotiations concerning disposition of the claim in an attempt to resolve that claim, failing which the claim will be set for trial upon application to the Court.

(Emphasis added.)

This letter (R. 3131-3137; R.E. 12) was approved by Plaintiffs' counsel. 10

On July 5, 2001, Illinois Central filed a Motion to Continue the Trial which had been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>That issue was not resolved.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>This was one of three letters which served as the sole documentary evidence upon which the trial court based its ruling that a settlement agreement existed as to the claims of the plaintiffs remaining in this case. The other two letters are those dated February 1 and 6, 2002 which are discussed later herein.

scheduled for September 10, 2001 and also filed a Motion to Compel. (R. 2491-2493; R.E. 13). This Motion noted that 8 plaintiffs were designated for trial on September 10, 2001, but that Illinois Central was having trouble obtaining necessary discovery responses and depositions.

An agreed order was entered on July 23, reducing the Trial Group III for the September 10, 2001 trial date to three plaintiffs: Myrick, Cox and Beal. This order preserved all issues raised in prior Motions. (R. 3680). In the following months, the parties conducted expert discovery and filed pretrial motions.

On July 24, 2001, Plaintiffs' counsel Farese faxed a letter to Peters confirming an agreement to mediate the claims of Myrick, Cox, and Beal. The mediation took place on August 10, 2001. During that mediation, Illinois Central offered to settle remaining claims with a discount as suggested earlier by plaintiffs' counsel in their letter of May 30, 2001, but plaintiffs' counsel's refused to discount any of the asbestosis or plaque claims. No further settlement discussions took place until 2002. (See R. 3641, paragraph 8 and R. 3644).

On August 18, 2001, Illinois Central moved to dismiss Plaintiff Claude Beal based on *forum non-conveniens* since he never lived or worked in Mississippi. (R. 2648-52). On August 29, 2001, Illinois Central filed a Motion for Continuance from the September 10, 2001 trial date since the claims of Plaintiffs Cox and Beal had settled and because of plaintiffs' delinquent designation of experts and their failure to provide expert deposition dates. An Agreed Order was subsequently entered rescheduling the trial for the claim of Plaintiff Myrick on April 8, 2002. (R. 2786). The claim of Myrick was subsequently settled.

2002

On February 1, 2002, Farese faxed a letter to Peters:

I shall attempt to set forth our understanding of the status of the cases. You has (have) suggested that we continue the April trial date. I have (sic) spoke with the Court Administrator ... she has advised that the following dates are available: June 3, June 24, July 8 and July 15. It is important to our clients, because of their ages and because of the length of time their cases have been on file, that we agree to a date to reschedule the trial. We must have a date in case we have to try any of the remaining cases.

They (Plaintiffs' other counsel) are working diligently to get all the questionnaires completed. By February 28, 2002, they hope to have at least half of them to you; the other half will be to you no later than April 1, 2002. It is my understanding that we have agreed to settle all the pleural plaque cases for each and all the asbestosis cases for each. It is seems to me that we should go ahead and settle all those cases in the second quarter of the year.
As for the remaining cases, we have two lung cancer cases (Greer and Travis) and four colon cancer cases (Bruch, Robinson, Parton and Harper).  It would appear reasonable and consistent to settle each of the lung cancer cases for I would suggest that we discuss the settlement of that case (Travis) for that same amount, conditioned upon a favorable decision on the appeal.
You mentioned that we would have to negotiate the colon cancer cases, but you thought a figure somewhere between and would be "in the ballpark." We could mediate them or try to negotiate a figure; then, if we could not reach an agreement, we could try them. (R.3137-38; R.E. 14). <sup>13</sup>
Five days later, on February 6, 2002, Attorney Peters replied:
I am in receipt of your fax of February 1. With respect to the pleural plaques and asbestosis cases, we have agreed to process 30 of those claims and pay them and respectively unless defenses as outlined in our letter of last year apply. With respect to the remaining 33 we agreed to pay \$ and \$ each, subject to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>This allegation by Plaintiff's counsel was not correct as shown by the letter of February 6, 2002.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>The claims of Plaintiffs Greer, Travis, Bruch, Robinson, Parton and Harper also remain pending at this time.

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