IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION NO. 2007-CA-00087

ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD COMPANY

Defendant/Appellant

V.

RICHARD ALDRIDGE, ET AL

Plaintiffs/Appellees

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION M98-328

,

÷

,

÷

ι,

i

ŧ

Ι.

BRIEF OF APPELLEES, RICHARD ALDRIDGE, ET AL

Thomas W. Brock, MSBN William S. Guy, MSBN 909 Delaware Avenue P. O. Box 509 McComb, MS 39649 601/684-2793 601/249-2507 Facsimile

John Booth Farese, MSBN Farese Farese and Farese 122 Church Street Post Office Box 98 Ashland, MS 38603-0098 662/224-6211 662/224-3229 Facsimile

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The June 19, 2001 letter agreement executed by the parties, together with the two letters from February 2002 establish that there was a meeting of the minds and a binding settlement agreement. The actions of the parties, Plaintiffs submitting Pulmonary Questionnaires with supporting documentation to Illinois Central pursuant to the terms of the June 19, 2001 letter and Illinois Central paying 48 plaintiffs the amounts agreed to in the February 2002 letters establishes not only that the parties reached an agreement but also that the parties followed the agreement such that 48 plaintiffs were paid pursuant to terms of the agreement.

Because there is in fact a binding Settlement Agreement, and due to the protracted length of this litigation, and the humanitarian and remedial purpose of the FELA, and that Illinois Central has been investigating these claims for over 5 years, none of the claims should be dismissed. Rather, the non-malignant asbestosis and pleural plaque plaintiffs who have submitted their documentation to Illinois Central should be paid immediately \$55,000 and \$35,000, respectively; the lung cancer plaintiffs should be remanded to Marshall County, Mississippi for a trial on damages only or on all issues as this Court should decide, and, the cases of Plaintiffs Samuel Boddie and Lawrence Farris should be remanded to Marshall County Mississippi Circuit Court with instructions that they be allowed a reasonable time to furnish Illinois Central with the required documentation pursuant to the June 19, 2001 Settlement Agreement between the parties.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW</u>

Illinois Central has waived any objection to the Trial Court Judge making findings of fact.

Even though Illinois Central argues otherwise, a review of the record shows that Illinois Central counsel never voiced any such objection. In fact, at the September 30, 2005 hearing on Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement Agreement, testimony on contested issues of fact was heard by Judge Lackey without any objection by Illinois Central counsel and, in fact, Illinois Central counsel Tom Peters was sworn and testified as a witness regarding contested factual issues. **T. 41, SRE 84**. By failing to voice any objection and by actually giving sworn testimony on the merits of these issues, Illinois Central has waived any objection to Judge Lackey making findings of fact. Further, at the conclusion of this September 30, 2005 hearing, Judge Lackey requested the parties to submit to him proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. Again, Illinois Central counsel did not object and did in fact submit proposed findings of fact to the Judge. **(R. 3830)** The only objection by Illinois Central to Judge Lackey making findings of fact is in a two line footnote on the fourteenth page of a twenty page pleading. **(R. 3959)** A party waives its right to object where it has not properly objected at the lower court level. Davis v. Singing River Electric Power Association, 501 So.2d 1128 (Miss.1987).

In <u>Ammons v. Cordova Floors, Inc.</u>, 904 So.2d 185 (Miss.Ct.App.2005), a factually similar case where the parties put on opposing proof at a hearing to enforce a settlement agreement and offered no objection to the Circuit Court Judge deciding the matter, the Mississippi Court of Appeals found:

We find that the Ammons' failure to object to the procedure employed by the circuit court and their arguing the conflicting affidavits on the merits rather than as a procedural limitation on the circuit judge's authority to rule, waived any objection to the trial court's deciding the disputed issue. Therefore, we decline to hold the trial judge in error and review his findings under the same deferential standard accorded those of a chancellor.

Ammons, at ¶ 18.

4.1

ſ

r

,

,

,

£ -

٤.

ι,

f

t i

A circuit judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor, and his findings are safe on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence. <u>City of Jackson v. Perry</u>, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss.Sup.Ct.2000) (quoting <u>Puckett v. Stuckey</u>, 633 So.2d 978, 982 (Miss.1993). The Supreme Court will not disturb the findings of the lower court unless the trial judge was clearly erroneous or abused his discretion. <u>Howard v. Total Fina E & PUSA, Inc.</u>, 899 So.2d 882, 888 (Miss.Sup.Ct.2005). The Supreme Court employs *de novo* review for questions of law. <u>Maldonado v. Kelly</u>, 768 So.2d 906, 908 (Miss.Sup.Ct.2000).

B. THE JUNE 19, 2001 LETTER TOGETHER WITH THE FEBRUARY 2002 LETTERS AND COURSE OF CONDUCT OF THE PARTIES ESTABLISHED A BINDING CONTRACT

.

÷ -

<u>'</u>

ί,

1 1

The June 19, 2001 Settlement Agreement, together with the two letters from February 2002, clearly show that there was an agreement which was followed by the parties.

The Settlement Agreement specifically provided for the fact that <u>Aldridge</u> settlement values had not been finalized as of June 19, 2001. This, however, does not detract from the fact that by February of 2002, the parties had accomplished this finalization of values as to asbestosis and pleural plaque cases. The Settlement Agreement further provided that as soon as the values were established that "the Law Offices of William S. Guy can choose to submit any combination of plaintiffs from either Allen or Aldridge for claims processing." See **EX. D at Pg. 3 (SRE 3)**.

"The law favors the settlement of disputes by agreement of the parties and, ordinarily, will enforce the agreement which the parties have made, absent any fraud, mistake, or overreaching." <u>McManus v. Howard</u>, 569 So.2d 1213, 1215 (Miss.1990). In order to have a valid settlement agreement, there must be consideration and a meeting of the minds between competent contracting parties. <u>Viverette v. State Highway Comm'n of Miss.</u>, 656 So.2d 102, 103 (Miss.1995) (citing <u>Hutton v. Hutton</u>, 239 Miss. 217, 230, 119 So.2d 369, 374 (1960). As this Court explained in <u>In re</u> <u>Estate of Davis</u>, 832 So.2d 534, 537 (¶ 9) (Miss.Ct.App.2001), no meeting of minds occurs until the offeree accepts the terms and provisions of the offer. Acceptance, however, can occur in a number of different ways and may be inferred from conduct of the parties. *Id.* At 537 (¶ 10).

This Court in <u>McInnis v. Southeastern Automatic Sprinkler Co., Inc.</u>, 233 So.2d 219 (Miss.1970), citing 17 C.J.S. Contracts § 58 (1963) stated:

A contract need not be contained in a single writing; it may be collected from several different writings which do not conflict with each other and which, when connected, show the parties, subject matter, terms, and consideration...

<u>McInnis</u>, at 222.

1 1

,

£ -

£ .

i.,

ł

έ.,

ŧ,

This Court in Fanning v. C.I.T. Corporation, 192 So. 41, at 43 (Miss. 1939) held:

The rule is that acceptance of a contract as binding upon a party may be shown by his actions, and any definite and unequivocal course of conduct disclosing that the party has acceded or asserted to it is as binding on him as had he endorsed his assent in formal writing.

Here, the June 19, 2001 Settlement Agreement which expressly contemplates a future finalization of <u>Aldridge</u> settlement values, together with the February 2002 letters which set forth asbestosis and pleural plaque values, then followed by payment of the agreed to values to 48 asbestosis and pleural plaque cases clearly shows that the parties entered into a binding contract.

Contrary to Illinois Central's assertions, the documents and letters in the record together with the course of conduct of the parties clearly demonstrate that there was an agreement as to the settlement of asbestosis and pleural plaque cases. Illinois Central attempts to characterize the Settlement Agreement as merely a procedure that it could take or leave, at its whim and pleasure. However, the June 19, 2001 <u>Allen/Aldridge</u> Settlement Agreement is a binding and enforceable settlement agreement as found by this Court in <u>Illinois Central R.R. Co. v. Milton McDaniel, et al</u>, 951 So.2d 523 (Miss.Sup.Ct.2006) <u>cert. den.</u>, 127 S.Ct. 1332 (2007). The contingent settlement agreement, as this Court characterized it in <u>McDaniel</u>, is a binding agreement that is contingent only upon Illinois Central being allowed to raise the three specific defenses of statute of limitations, a valid prior release, or that the plaintiff was never an employee of Illinois Central or any of its predecessors . See <u>McDaniel</u> at ¶ 4.

Illinois Central attempts to evade the clear intent of the Settlement Agreement by reference to a statement in the Agreement that a claim is not settled until it is paid. This is of no avail to Illinois Central because the agreement was indeed contingent. However, it is only contingent to the extent that Illinois Central can raise the 3 aforementioned defenses. Further, under the agreement, Illinois Central agreed to pay claims up to \$6 million per calendar quarter until all <u>Allen</u> and <u>Aldridge</u> claims were paid.

The language in the Settlement Agreement that a claim is not settled until it is paid is to clearly and unequivocally accommodate another provision that specifically provides that a plaintiff's diagnosis can change prior to payment:

Prior to payment, any plaintiffs' diagnosis can change: i.e., a plaintiff with a current diagnosis of asbestosis or asbestos related pleural disease could develop a malignancy, or a plaintiff with asbestos related pleural disease could be diagnosed with asbestosis.

(See Ex. D (Page 3), SRE 3). See Also McDaniel, at ¶ 32-34.³

4 3

۰.

ι,

: -.

i J

³

Under this provision of the Settlement Agreement, Larry McWilliams, an <u>Allen</u> plaintiff, signed a release for asbestosis but before he was paid, he notified Illinois Central that he had developed lung cancer and that he was withdrawing his claim for asbestosis for which he had not been paid. In a callous and totally unjustified manner, Illinois Central asserted the asbestosis release in defense of the lung cancer claim, all the while knowing that it had <u>never</u> tendered nor completed any settlement payment whatsoever regarding McWilliams' asbestosis injuries. This Court, in <u>McDaniel</u>, upheld the lower court ruling ordering Illinois Central to

Most importantly, after the parties agreed on the settlement amounts of \$55,000 for asbestosis

and \$35,000 for pleural plaque cases, Illinois Central paid 48 plaintiffs these amounts. If, as Illinois

Central argues, these cases were decided on a case by case basis, it is impossible that 48 cases would

have been paid the same amounts for asbestosis and pleural plaques.

In Tom Peters February 6, 2002 facsimile to Plaintiffs' Counsel Farese, Peters states:

Dear John:

I am in receipt of your fax of February 1. With respect to the pleural plaques and asbestosis cases, we have agreed to process 30 of those claims and pay them \$35,000 and \$55,000 respectively, unless defenses as outlined in our letter of last year apply. With respect to the remaining 33 (I have not included Earl Hubbard since his claim was clearly released), we agreed to pay \$35,000 and \$55,000 each, subject to the same defenses, but that payment would have been deferred until September.

(See Ex. C, SRE 9)

1

.

ε,

ŧ

It is important to note that as of February 6, 2002, there were exactly 63 asbestosis and

pleural plaque cases, not including Earl Hubbard.⁴ This number is important because it confirms

pay McWilliams \$550,000 for his lung cancer claim.

70 - Sub-total

Less: 6 Cancer cases pending as of February, 2002 See Ex. B, SRE 7

64 Non-malignant cases as of February, 2002, including Earl Hubbard

⁴The number of 63 is derived as follows:

⁹⁹ Plaintiffs at the time of Amended Complaint filed 5/7/99 R. 79-103

Less: 8 Trial Group I Plaintiffs paid 10/30/2000 See Payment Timeline, EX. A, SRE 11

Less: 17 Trial Group II Plaintiffs paid 4/27/01 See Payment Timeline, EX. A, SRE 11

Less: 1 Trial Group II Plaintiff C. B. Nix paid 5/3/01 See Payment Timeline, EX. A, SRE 11

Less: 1 September 10, 2001, Trial Group Plaintiff Bruce Myrick paid 10/12/01 See Payment Timeline, EX. A., SRE 11

Less: 1 Claude Beal (Initially in Tr. Grp II and later put in 9/10/01 Trial Group) paid 11/2/01 See Payment Timeline, EX. A, SRE 11

Less: 1 September 10, 2001, Trial Group Plaintiff Byron Cox paid 11/2/01 See Payment Timeline **EX. A, SRE 12**

Less: 1 Earl Hubbard, who Peters does not include in his calculation because he (Peters) considers Hubbard's claim was clearly released by a prior release See EX. C, SRE 9

that Illinois Central agreed to settle <u>all</u> of the asbestosis and pleural plaque cases for \$55,000 and \$35,000, respectively, as clearly stated in Peters' February 6, 2002 letter where he states: "We have agreed to process 30 of those claims and pay them \$35,000 and \$55,000 respectively, unless defenses as outlined in our letter of last year apply."⁵ Peters next statement that "With respect to the remaining 33 (I have not included Earl Hubbard since his claim was clearly released), we agreed to pay \$35,000 and \$55,000 each, subject to the same defenses, **but that payment would have been deferred until September**" (Emph. added) is clearly addressing the earlier statement in Farese's February 1, 2002 letter to him (Peters) wherein Farese states that it is his (Farese) understanding that all the asbestosis and pleural plaque cases **would be paid in the second quarter of 2002.** (Emph. added) (See Ex. B, SRE 7)

Because payments did not begin until November 4, 2002, (See Payment Timeline, **Ex. A** (Page 2), SRE 12) the issue about a discount for paying prior to September became totally moot. Illinois Central paid 30 claims from November 4, 2002 until March 7, 2003 and then began paying the 33 remaining claims on March 20, 2003. ICRR continued honoring the Settlement Agreement for 18 of the 33 remaining claims until its last payment on September 29, 2004. (See Payment

4 -

.

1

5

⁶³ This is the total number of pending asbestosis and pleural plaque cases as of February 6, 2002, the date of Peters' letter where he clearly states Illinois Central had agreed to pay all 63.

This is a reference to the three defenses of statute of limitations, valid prior release or lack of employment with Illinois Central set forth in the June 19, 2001 Settlement Agreement. See also <u>McDaniel</u>, 951 So.2d 523 at 525, ¶4. Illinois Central argues that Peters' reference to "our letter of last year" is to a March 8, 2001 letter from Peters to Farese outlining a settlement offer for Trial Group II. Even if true, this suggestion is unavailing: Peters' March 8 letter does not reserve any additional defenses in this letter. More importantly, the June 19, 2001 letter clearly supercedes this earlier letter and specifically provides for a future finalization of settlement amounts which was accomplished in February, 2002 for asbestosis and pleural plaque cases.

Timeline, Ex. A, SRE 11-15)

ŧ,

÷ .

•

ł

ι,

Illinois Central's argument on Page 32 of its brief that in Peters' letter of February 6, that "with respect to 33 other asbestosis and plaque claims, Attorney Peters had no authority and would discuss the matter with Illinois Central" is in complete contradiction of the express terms of Peters' letter itself and with the course of conduct by Illinois Central. Peters clearly and unequivocally states in his February 6 letter that Illinois Central agreed to pay \$35,000 and \$55,000 for the remaining 33 cases and that payment would be in September. Nothing more was said about these cases until Illinois Central began paying them in November of 2002. Because Illinois Central didn't begin paying the cases until after September, the issue about a discount was moot. Illinois Central did what it had agreed to do: it paid \$55,000 and \$35,000 for 48 cases until it breached the agreement.

Illinois Central argues that Plaintiffs' setting cases for trial after the February 2002 letters establishes that there was no settlement agreement. However, the only trial scheduled after February 2002 was for cancer cases. (**R. 2920, RE Vol. 1 Tab 18 -** Setting trial on 5/17/04 for Plaintiffs Brower, Cooper, Greer and Travis) Plaintiffs acknowledge there was no agreement reached as to the value of cancer cases. However, Plaintiffs' attempt to set cancer cases for trial is not inconsistent in any way with the fact that there was a settlement agreement as to the non-malignant cases of asbestosis and pleural plaques.

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